
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device 
or Blackberry Playbook.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a 

copy in another format or language please contact: 
Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 
 

Tuesday, 19 July 2022 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Audit Committee will be held on 
 

Wednesday, 27 July 2022 
 

commencing at 2.00 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Loxton (Chairman) 

 

Councillor Brooks 

Councillor Douglas-Dunbar 

Councillor Hill 

 

Councillor Johns 

Councillor Kennedy (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor O'Dwyer 

 

 

 

Together Torbay will thrive 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


(2) 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive any apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 4 - 6) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Audit Committee held on 11 and 25 May 2022. 
 

3.   Declarations of interests 
 

 

(a)   To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 

(b)   To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect 
of items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 
 

4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Annual Governance Statement 2021-22 (Pages 7 - 31) 
 To consider a report that sets out the draft Annual Governance 

Statement 2021-22. 
 

6.   Local Government Association and Local Partnerships : 
Review of Wholly Owned Companies 2021 - Action Plan 
Monitoring 

(Pages 32 - 39) 

 To consider an update on the progress made on implementing the 
Local Government Association and Local Partnerships : Review of 
Wholly Owned Companies 2021 Action Plan. 
 

7.   Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 To consider passing a resolution to exclude the press and public 



(3) 

from the meeting prior to consideration of the following item on the 
agenda on the grounds that exempt information (as defined in 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)) is 
likely to be disclosed. 
 

8.   Management Accounts - SWISCo (Pages 40 - 41) 
 At the meeting of the Audit Committee on 6 December 2021, it was 

resolved that the Audit Committee would receive copies of the 
Management Accounts for SWISCo twice a year. 
 
(Note: The Management Accounts for SWISCo are exempt as the 
public statutory accounts will not be available until the Autumn.) 
 

 Meeting Attendance  
 Torbay Council has taken the decision to continue operating in a 

Covid-19 secure manner in order to protect staff and visitors 
entering Council buildings and to help reduce the spread of Covid-
19 in Torbay.  This includes social distancing and other protective 
measures (e.g. wearing a face covering whilst moving around the 
building (unless exempt), the face covering can be removed once 
seated and using hand sanitiser).  Our public meetings will continue 
to operate with social distancing measures in place and as such 
there are limited numbers that can access our meeting rooms.  If 
you have symptoms, including runny nose, sore throat, fever, new 
continuous cough and loss of taste and smell please do not come 
into the office. 
 
If you wish to attend a public meeting, please contact us to confirm 
arrangements for your attendance. 
 

 



  
 

Minutes of the Audit Committee 
 

11 May 2022 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Loxton (Chairman) 

 

Councillors Brooks, Douglas-Dunbar, Hill, Johns and Kennedy (Vice-Chair) 
 
 

 
1. Minutes  

 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 31 January 2022 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

2. Qtr 4 Corporate Performance & Risk Report  
 
Members received and noted the Corporate Performance & Risk Report for 
quarter four.  The Chief Executive drew Members attention to a number of areas 
including agency staff costs and risks to the Capital Programme from build cost 
inflation. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
1) An additional red status would be introduced to the Performance Report to 

identify projects where ‘Action is Required’. 
 
2) The Director of Place to provide the dates of the Land Release Fund 

funding.  
 
3) The Director of Finance to include in the financial year end report all grant 

funding including grant funding that is returned. 
 
4) Section 106 monies be added to the work programme of the Audit 

Committee, including how these funds are used by different departments. 
 
5) The Senior Performance and Risk Officer work with the Director of Finance 

to include more performance indicators regarding financial matters.  
 
6) The Senior Performance and Risk Officer work with the Director of 

Children’s Services to improve the tracking of the performance indicators 
for Children’s Services.  

 
 

Chairman 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



  
 

Minutes of the Audit Committee 
 

25 May 2022 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Loxton (Chairman) 

 

Councillors Brooks, Douglas-Dunbar, Johns, Kennedy (Vice-Chair) and O'Dwyer 

 

 
1. Apologies  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Hill. 
 

2. Auditor's Annual Report on Torbay Council 2020/21  
 
Members considered a report compiled by the Council’s External Auditor’s, Grant 
Thornton.  Mr Dossett, Key Audit Partner, informed Members that under the 
National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice, Grant Thornton were required to 
consider whether the Council had put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of resources, report in detail on 
the Council’s overall arrangements including key recommendation on any 
significant weaknesses identified during the audit. 
 
Mr Dossett informed Members that they did not identify any significant 
weaknesses and the recommendations made within the report were ‘improvement’ 
recommendations rather than ‘key’ recommendations. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Audit Committee recommends that: 
 
1) the Director of Finance give consideration to making a clear distinction 

between statutory and discretionary spending in the budgeting information 
provided to members and published on the web; and  

 
2) the Chief Executive consider whether, from the 2023 Municipal Year, the 

quarterly performance report should be presented to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board enabling the Audit Committee to focus on the risk register and 
the mitigating action being taken to address the identified risks. 

 
3. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update  

 
The Committee noted a report that set out a summary of emerging national issues 
and developments.  Members attention was drawn to commentary in respect of 
the financial statements audit for 20/21.  Members were informed that the financial 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2
Appendix 1



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 25 May 2022 
 

 

statements for 20/21 remained unsigned while the outcome of a CIPFA 
consultation relating to infrastructure assets remained unknown.  The outcome of 
the consultation was expected by the end of June 2022 if the proposals were 
approved it would result in all councils needing to provide updated accounts for 
20/21.  
 

4. Annual Audit Report 2021-22  
 
Members noted the Annual Audit Report 2021-22.  The Head of the Devon Audit 
Partnership informed Members that based on work performed during 2021/22, 
experience from previous years, and the outcome of the annual follow up exercise, 
previously reported, the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion was one of “Reasonable 
Assurance” on the adequacy and effectiveness of much of the Council’s internal 
control framework.  The exception was Children’s Services, where the opinion 
remained as ‘Limited Assurance’, although Internal Audit acknowledged the 
positive direction of travel as previously reported by Government appointed bodies 
for regulatory inspections. 
 
Members asked questions in relation to the growth fund for Claylands, lessons 
learnt in respect of government grants provided during the Covid-19 Pandemic 
and audits in respect of Section 106 (S106) monies and Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL).  The Head of the Devon Audit Partnership was asked to circulate the 
response in respect of the growth fund for Claylands and S106/CIL after the 
meeting. 
 

5. Treasury Management Outturn 2021-22  
 
Members noted the Treasury Management Outturn 20221-22 report which 
provided details of the treasury management activities undertaken during the year 
2021/22 and compared to the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman/woman 

Page 6



 

Meeting:  Audit Committee Date:  27 July 2022 

Wards affected:  All  

Report Title:  Annual Governance Statement 2021/2022  

When does the decision need to be implemented? Immediately 

Cabinet Member Contact Details:  Councillor Steve Darling, Leader of the Council, 

steve.darling@torbay.gov.uk 

Director/Divisional Director Contact Details:  Kate Spencer, Head of Policy, Performance and 

Community Engagement 01803 207014 kate.spencer@torbay.gov.uk 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 The preparation of the Annual Governance Statement provides the opportunity for the 

organisation to review its processes, controls and objectives and to provide assurance to 

Members, Senior Officers and stakeholders as to the reliability of its statement of accounts 

and the probity of its operations.   

1.2 The Annual Governance Statement fulfils the statutory requirement in England for a local 

authority to conduct a review at least once in each financial year of the effectiveness of its 

system of internal control and to include a statement reporting on the review with its 

Statement of Accounts. 

2. Reason for Proposal and its benefits 

2.1  The Statement sets out publicly the extent to which the Council complies with its own code 

of corporate governance (part of the codes and protocols of the Constitution), including how 

it monitored and evaluated the effectiveness of its governance arrangements in the year. 

2.2 The reason for the decision is to meet the requirements of the Accounts and Audit 

(England) Regulations.  

3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 

3.1 That the draft Annual Governance Statement for 2020/2021 be agreed and forwarded to the 

External Auditors for comment.  

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

mailto:steve.darling@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:kate.spencer@torbay.gov.uk


 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Draft Annual Governance Statement 2021/2022. 

Supporting Information 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Annual Governance Statement for 2021/22 has been prepared and if agreed by Audit 

Committee, will be sent to External Auditors with the Annual Statement of Accounts for 

comment to be finally approved by Audit Committee in September 2022. 

1.2  Regulations require every local authority to include in their annual Statement of Accounts 

an Annual Governance Statement signed by the Leader of the Council and the Chief 

Executive. 

2. Options under consideration 

Not applicable 

3. Financial Opportunities and Implications 

3.1 There are no financial commitments to the council beyond the officer time involved in 

collating this report. 

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 Regulation 6(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require an authority to 

conduct a review at least once in a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control 

and include a statement reporting on the review with any published statement of accounts. 

5. Engagement and Consultation 

5.1  The Statement is prepared with information from Officers, Senior Officers and Internal Audit 

reports. It has been reviewed by the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council. 

6. Purchasing or Hiring of Goods and/or Services 

Not applicable 

 

Page 8



 

 

7. Tackling Climate Change 

Not applicable 

8. Associated Risks 

8.1  That the requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations are not adequately 

met. 

9. Equality Impacts - Identify the potential positive and negative 

impacts on specific groups 

 Positive Impact Negative Impact & 
Mitigating Actions 

Neutral Impact 

Older or younger people   There is no differential 
impact. 

People with caring 
Responsibilities 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

People with a disability   There is no differential 
impact. 

Women or men   There is no differential 
impact. 

People who are black or 
from a minority ethnic 
background (BME) 
(Please note Gypsies / 
Roma are within this 
community) 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

Religion or belief 
(including lack of belief) 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

People who are lesbian, 
gay or bisexual 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

People who are 
transgendered 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

People who are in a 
marriage or civil 
partnership 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

Women who are 
pregnant / on maternity 
leave 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

Page 9



 

 

Socio-economic impacts 
(Including impact on 
child poverty issues and 
deprivation) 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

Public Health impacts 
(How will your proposal 
impact on the general 
health of the population 
of Torbay) 

  There is no differential 
impact. 

10. Cumulative Council Impact 

None 

11. Cumulative Community Impacts 

None 

Page 10



1 
 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2021/2022 

 
Scope of responsibility  

Torbay Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. Torbay Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 
1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.  

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting 
in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the 
management of risk.  

Torbay Council has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, 
which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework 
‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’. The code is included in 
the Council’s Constitution which is available on the Council’s website at 
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=458&i
nfo=1  

This statement explains how Torbay Council has complied with the code and 
also meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 
2015 in relation to the publication of a statement on internal control.  

The purpose of the governance framework  

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, culture and 
values, by which the authority is directed and controlled, and its activities 
through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It 
enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives 
and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of 
appropriate, cost effective services.  

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can, therefore, only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system 
of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of Torbay Council’s policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically.  

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=458&info=1
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=458&info=1


2 
 

The Governance Framework  

The Constitution 

The Constitution sets out the main elements of the governance framework of 
Torbay Council, in particular how decisions are made and the procedures 
which are followed, to ensure that these are efficient and transparent and that 
decision makers are accountable to local people.  

Torbay Council operates a Leader and Cabinet model of governance. The 
Leader of the Council and the Cabinet are responsible for major decisions 
including key policy matters within the framework set by the Council. These 
are referred to as “Executive Functions”. When major decisions are to be 
discussed or made, these are published in the Forward Plan in so far as they 
can be anticipated. The Cabinet collectively takes decisions at meetings of the 
Cabinet and these meetings will generally be open for the public to attend 
except where exempt or confidential matters are being discussed.  

The Constitution includes Standing Orders, Financial Regulations and the 
Scheme of Delegated Powers and is available on the Council’s website. It is 
underpinned by Codes of Conduct for Members and Employees and a range 
of local protocols. The Constitution includes the Council’s Code of Corporate 
Governance. 

As the local elections in May 2019 left no party with overall control of the 
Council, the Liberal Democrat Group and Independent Group have signed a 
partnership agreement and have joined together to form the administration of 
the Council. 

The Cabinet must make decisions which are in line with the policies and 
budget set by Council. If they wish to make a decision which is outside the 
budget or policy framework, this must be referred to the Council as a whole to 
decide. The Council has an overview and scrutiny process which provides a 
‘critical friend’ challenge to cabinet policy makers and decision making. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board (and its sub-committee the Children and 
Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Board) is responsible for the overview 
and scrutiny function of the Council. In accordance with their work 
programme, it assists in the development of policy and holds decision makers 
to account. As per the constitution, any five members of the Council can “call-
in” executive decisions to the Overview and Scrutiny Board for further debate. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for all internal and external audit matters, 
treasury management as well as monitoring the effective development and 
operation of performance and risk management and corporate governance in 
the Council. It meets a minimum of five times per municipal year. 

The Standards Committee’s remit includes the conduct of members and 
investigating complaints in respect of individual members. The Standards 
Committee promotes and embeds ethical standards for members. 

Page 12



3 
 

Some regulatory functions remain the responsibility of the Council rather than 
the Cabinet and most of these are delegated to a small number of committees 
appointed annually by the Council. 

All members are inducted into the importance and processes of good 
governance and have informal and, if required, formal ways of raising 
governance issues with the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer and the Senior Leadership Team.  

From the beginning of May 2020, all the council’s meetings were held virtually 
because of the Covid-19 pandemic and social distancing measures. From 12 
July 2021 all decision-making meetings reverted to being held in person with 
social distancing and other protective measures in place. 

The Corporate Plan and Decision-making 

The Council’s Community and Corporate Plan is the main strategic document 
under which the rest of our Policy Framework sits. Following the local 
elections in May 2019, a Community and Corporate Plan “One Torbay: 
Working for all Torbay” was prepared by the Cabinet, and adopted by the 
Council, which sets out the ambitions and visions of the Council over four 
years and the principles within which the Council will operate.  

The Council Business Plan 2021-22 sets out the delivery of the Community 
and Corporate Plan and details the priorities for the organisation into 2023. A 
quarterly performance report which includes both projects and performance 
indicators is used to track the delivery of the priorities. In addition to the 
performance report, a separate strategic risk report is updated and reviewed 
by senior management and Audit Committee quarterly.  

The Council has a Medium Term Resource Plan which is reviewed on an on-
going basis to consider new information and changed circumstances. Both 
documents provide a framework for planning and monitoring resource 
requirements. 

The Council’s Senior Leadership Team oversee the delivery of the Community 
and Corporate Plan, ensuring that it is delivered, whilst seeking to maximise 
efficiencies, income and savings (in accordance with the requirements of the 
Medium Term Resource Plan) and create service resilience. 

The Cabinet receive reports containing recommendations for decisions made 
at meetings of the Cabinet. All reports to members include sections on the 
financial and legal implications and the risks of the proposed decision. Prior to 
publication, these reports are cleared by the Chief Executive, Chief Finance 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer or one of their senior staff. 

All meetings of the Council and its committees are open to the public but a 
small number of matters are considered in private when the press and public 
are formally excluded from meetings. It is the Council’s objective to keep 
these private matters to a minimum with only those elements of reports that 
are considered exempt from publication being included within appendices. 

Page 13



4 
 

This aims to ensure open and transparent decision making is undertaken at all 
times. From May 2022, meetings of the Council, Cabinet and Planning 
Committee have been livestreamed so as to further enable open and 
transparent decision making. 

The Member Development Programme provides a structured approach to 
member development and support them in their roles. In addition to the 
Personal Development Plans, Members have the opportunity to have a one to 
one Councillor Development discussion with their Group Leader. The purpose 
of these reviews is to discuss each member’s progress and how they can 
contribute to meeting the Council’s priorities. 

Community and Service User Engagement 

The partnership administration is clear in their vision for strong community 
engagement and empowerment and work is continuing to ensure that the 
Council can build on the existing arrangements across Torbay. 

The Community Engagement and Empowerment Strategy outlines how the 
Council intends to meet its mission to be a Council that works in partnership 
with its residents, communities and partnerships.  

The Strategy is split into 6 key domains that outline how we propose to 
improve our community engagement and how we want to work alongside and 
empower the community in Torbay. The domains are:  

 Working differently  

 Keep you informed  

 Ask what you think  

 Decide together  

 Act together  

 Support independent community initiatives  
The first domain outlines what our offers are to the community to facilitate this 
approach and what we ask of the community to support. It provides a 
narrative to explain the Council's new approach and proposals about how a 
partnership framework would look in Torbay.  

The subsequent domains make clear statements about what our 
commitments are and what our planned actions are to meet these. Many of 
these commitments and planned actions were identified at the Community 
Conference in September 2019. 

There are a number of Community Partnerships across Torbay which provide 
an opportunity for people who live or work in those parts of Torbay to discuss 
issues of common concern, influence the way in which services are provided 
and improve their local area.  

In developing proposals for service change, consultation with service users 
and the public is undertaken. In particular, the impact on vulnerable groups 
and those with characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2012 is 
assessed and documented in Equality Impact Assessments which are 
considered by decision-makers prior to decisions being made. 

Page 14



5 
 

Partnership Working 

The Council retains legal responsibilities for the provision of Adult Social Care 
in accordance with the Care Act 2014, the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and the 
Mental Health Act 1983, but these are delegated to Torbay and South Devon 
NHS Foundation Trust, an integrated organisation responsible for providing 
acute health care services from Torbay Hospital, community health services 
and adult social care for the people of Torbay and South Devon. 

The Torbay Adult Social Care Risk Share (Financial) Agreement 2020 to 2023 
under the powers outlined in S.75 NHS Act 2006, was agreed in March 2020, 
and extended in March 2022 to end in 2025. This agreement continues to 
integrate the arrangements for Adult Social Care in Torbay with Devon 
Integrated Care System and Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust. 

The Adult Care Strategic Agreement (ACSA) between Torbay Council, Torbay 
and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust and Devon Clinical Commissioning 
Group was agreed at a meeting of the Council in September 2020. The ASCA 
replaced the Annual Strategic agreement and sets out the way in which 
Torbay Council and Devon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commission 
adult social care services from the Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation 
Trust until 2023. 

Torbay Council is one of the organisations involved in the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) for Devon, a partnership of health and social care organisations 
working together with local communities across Devon, Plymouth and Torbay 
to improve people’s health, wellbeing and care so there are equal chances for 
everyone in Devon to lead long, happy and healthy lives. Partners include 
local NHS trusts and clinical commissioning groups, other local authorities, 
GPs and primary care colleagues, voluntary and independent sector partners. 

As part of the ICS, the council is a part of the South Local Care Partnership 
(LCP) which brings together health and social care services with partner 
organisations to help people live better lives. The partners, including Devon 
County, South Hams District and Teignbridge Councils as well as local NHS 
trusts, Healthwatch Devon and Torbay Community Development Trust, work 
together across organisational boundaries to address health inequalities whilst 
recognising the unique challenges and differing demographics of each 
community. 

The Torbay Safeguarding Children Strategic Partnership works together to 
identify and respond to the needs of children. It is jointly led by the three local 
safeguarding partners: Torbay Council, Devon and Cornwall Constabulary, 
and NHS Devon CCG. The safeguarding partners and all relevant agencies 
that work with children and families are committed to ensuring that 
safeguarding arrangements are of the highest quality, that they consistently 
promote the welfare of children and effectively safeguards them whatever 
their circumstances. The Safeguarding Children Partnership operates in line 
with the requirements of the statutory guidance Working Together to 
Safeguard Children 2018 and is independently scrutinised. 

Page 15



6 
 

The Children’s Partnership Early Help Model and Early Help Implementation 
Board has made strong strategic links made with the 0-19 Partnership to 
avoid duplication and is aligned with the Council’s Sufficiency Board to ensure 
accountability. The model itself is predicated on partnership locality teams / 
networks with key links to the voices, needs and desires of the local 
communities. The networks / teams will be focussed on maximising resources 
in the three localities of Torquay, Brixham and Paignton, and across Torbay 
itself, as well as identifying local needs or gaps and suggesting how 
community strengths may address them. Our principles for Early Help are 
based on the principles of the legislation as described in Working Together to 
Safeguard Children, 2018. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board and the Community Safety Partnership 
known as Safer Communities Torbay, provide forums where multi-agency 
issues which impact on the Torbay population can be debated.  

The Torbay Voluntary Sector Network has been working closely with Torbay 
Council and includes Citizens Advice Bureau, Healthwatch, faith groups, Age 
UK and Torbay Community Development Trust (TCDT). This group works with 
Torbay Council in its overall approach to working with the community and 
voluntary sector by forging new partnerships; whilst finding creative and 
innovative ways for delivering services that will sustain a thriving voluntary 
and community sector in Torbay. The development of the community and 
voluntary sector in Torbay is key to the strategic plans of Torbay Council, 
Devon CCG and Torbay & South Devon NHS Foundation Trust. 

The Torbay Strategic Partnership (known as Torbay Together), which consists 
of public, private and voluntary sector organisations, continued to meet 
regularly throughout the year and worked together to address issues that 
impact across Torbay. In January 2022 the partnership launched the Torbay 
Story, a vision for Torbay now and into the future. It also established a Torbay 
Place Leadership Board to replace the Torbay Together monthly meetings. 
The first meeting of this new board took place in February 2022. The 
partnership has also established a Torbay Champions Programme which 
launched in March 2022. The next challenge for the partnership is establishing 
Town Boards for the three towns. 

The Council owns (either in its own right or with partners) a number of 
companies, namely the Torbay Economic Development Company (which has 
a trading name of TDA), Torbay Education Limited, Careers South West and 
SWISCo. The Council has representatives on the Boards of these companies 
together with a number of reserved matters which are set out in the Articles of 
Association and Memorandum of Understanding. 

Performance and monitoring arrangements are in place in respect of service 
specific partnerships such as the Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation 
Trust and the Torbay Coast and Countryside Trust.  

The Council is a member of the Heart of the South West Joint Committee (a 
partnership across all of the local authorities in Devon and Somerset plus the 
national park authorities, the Local Enterprise Partnership and the Clinical 

Page 16



7 
 

Commissioning Groups) which will be delivering the Productivity Strategy for 
the region and maximising the opportunities for Government funding in Devon 
and Somerset.  

The Council, with Devon County Council and Plymouth City Council submitted 
a request to Government for a County Deal. On 2 February 2022 the 
Secretary of State announced that Devon, Plymouth and Torbay were in the 
initial wave of places to be offered the opportunity to enter into a County Deal 
to receive devolved powers. The Councils are working together and with 
Government to explore what the Deal could contain. If a Deal is ultimately 
taken forward, then appropriate governance arrangements will be put in place. 

Performance and Risk Management 

A performance and risk strategy and framework for the organisation was 
agreed by the Cabinet at its meeting in December 2020. The action plan for 
this document is updated and monitored through the Our Organisation Board.  

During 2021/22, the council has revised its performance reports, improved the 
timeliness of its performance reporting timetable and enhanced the 
engagement with both cabinet and audit committee elected members. An 
updated approach to service planning has been devised which drives the 
golden thread of performance management from the corporate plan through to 
service delivery outcomes. In addition to this, the service planning process 
has developed an opportunity to hold a performance and finance challenge 
process, known as Star Chambers. The outcomes of the challenge feed 
directly into the council’s annual budget setting and medium term financial 
plan. The Senior Leadership Team are responsible for the monitoring the 
delivery of the service plans and any improvement plans that the council has 
in place. Included within the service plans are each service’s risks. 

The council’s approach to risk management is currently being reviewed and 
updated. A strategic risk report is updated by the Senior Leadership Team on 
a quarterly basis and discussed collaboratively at their SLT meetings. These 
reports are discussed and monitored at Informal Cabinet and Audit 
Committee. Service risks are managed through the council’s Service 
Performance and Risk database (Spar.NET).  

Senior Management 

The Head of the Paid Service is the Chief Executive who is responsible and 
accountable to the Council for all aspects of operational management.  

The Director of Finance is the Chief Financial Officer. He has direct access 
to all members, the Chief Executive and senior officers of the Council. He 
works with Directors and Divisional Directors to identify any financial issues 
which may require management action. Regular discussions are held with the 
Leader of the Council and the Deputy Leader of the Council who is the 
Cabinet Member with responsibility for finance. The Chief Financial Officer 
has responsibility for ensuring the Council operates secure and reliable 
financial and accounting systems. 

Page 17



8 
 

Members are briefed on key financial issues with revenue and capital budget 
monitoring reports being considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Board and 
the Cabinet on a regular basis. The Council agrees the Treasury Management 
Strategy on an annual basis on the recommendation of the Audit Committee. 

The Head of Legal Services is the Monitoring Officer. She is responsible to 
the Council for ensuring that agreed procedures and protocols are followed 
and that all applicable Statutes and Regulations are complied with. 

Officers in politically restricted posts and those responsible for negotiating 
contracts are required to register their personal interests. 

Training and Information 

Corporate training needs are identified through the Senior Leadership Team. 
The Council has strongly supported staff development, particularly through 
programmes such as the Institute of Leadership and Management to develop 
Team Leaders and Managers. 

The Corporate Induction module on i-Learn signposts and informs new 
employees about the range of policies and procedures they need to be aware 
of, including the Code of Conduct, Information Governance, Acceptable 
Behaviour, Driver’s Policy and Handbook and Whistleblowing Policies. 
Managers are responsible for local induction arrangements with corporate 
induction courses being run on a regular basis. 

i-Learn also houses learning modules which are mandatory for all staff 
including Equality in the Workplace, Fire safety, First Aid at Work and Display 
Screen Safety. In addition, there are several Wellbeing modules.  

The Council’s intranet contains a range of policies, procedures and guidance 
for all staff including Information Governance Policies, Code of Conduct, 
Freedom of Information guidance, Data Protection Policy and the Corporate 
Plan and Constitution. Human Resources (HR) Policies are available to all 
staff via the MyView web platform. 

The Council has a Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy which is reviewed 
regularly, has been communicated to all staff and is available on the Council’s 
website.  

The Managers Forum meets on a quarterly basis and Senior Managers Forum 
meets once each month (excepting the months when a Managers Forum is 
held). These meetings enable all managers to be briefed on current issues, 
reflect on achievements and engage in the development of action plans, 
ensuring that best practice across the Authority is shared and that plans for 
the future are collectively owned. This information is then passed on to staff 
through team meetings.  

A focussed forum for Managers called the Extended Leadership Team (ELT) 
was established to provide for even greater communication and opportunities 
for empowerment throughout the organisation.  

Page 18



9 
 

The All Colleagues Briefing happens four times a year. It provides an 
opportunity for all staff to come together to learn about key issues at the 
organisation. The 30-minute briefings are open to everyone and attendance is 
encouraged. These briefings are led by the Chief Executive, supported by a 
relevant member of the Senior Leadership Team and cover key issues for 
staff. 

Ask Us Anything on-line meetings are held in the months where we do not 
have an All Colleagues Briefing. There are two sessions each month, covering 
the same topic and 30 members of staff can register their attendance and ask 
questions of the Senior Leadership Team, on a much more personal level. 

Internal communication approaches are in place to ensure all staff are aware 
of issues and new policies and practices. Weekly staff update emails are sent 
to advise of relevant information, achievements, HR policy, legislation 
changes and the learning and development courses on offer.  

Updates regarding organisational working practices and service changes 
during the COVID-19 pandemic were communicated to staff via all staff emails 
and team meetings. The Chief Executive continued to give regular updates via 
video and newsletter. During 2021/22 staff were supported through weekly 
wellbeing emails and signposted to dedicated web pages covering a range of 
issues affecting staff in and outside of work. 

There is a positive working relationship with Trades Unions through quarterly 
formal meetings, and informal meetings with the Head of Paid Service and 
Head of Human Resources conducting consultation where appropriate. 

Customer Feedback, Whistleblowing and Prevention of Fraud 

The Council has a customer feedback recording, tracking and reporting 
system to which all staff have access via the Intranet. The system captures 
compliments, complaints, queries, enquiries and Local Government 
Ombudsman complaints. Letters from Members of Parliament as well as 
enquiries made through local councillors are also recorded through this 
system. 

The system enables all complaints to be recorded and tracked with root 
causes identified providing the Council with a useful analysis of why issues 
are being received. It also enables the tracking of the implementation of 
recommendations and actions. 

The Information Governance Team operates a one stage complaints process 
which facilitates timeliness of responses, consistency of responses and 
improved timescales for escalation to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman. Reports regarding complaints are provided to the Senior 
Leadership Team on a regular basis, these reports include the type of 
complaint, service area, outcomes and any learning points. This results in 
further actions being identified and implemented. 

The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is available on the Council’s website and 
intranet site. The Council has an established phone line for any whistleblowing 

Page 19



10 
 

calls, which goes directly to Internal Audit which has responsibility for dealing 
with these issues in the first instance.  

The Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Devon Audit 
Partnership (or their representative) meet on a regular basis to consider and 
recommend action in connection with current governance issues and other 
matters of concern regarding ethics and probity. The Chief Executive (as 
Head of Paid Service) is kept informed of matters. 

The Council has a Fraud and Counter Corruption Officer who is accountable 
to the Head of Finance. The Council’s website enables members of the public 
to report any suspicions of anyone committing fraud or corruption. 

Information Management 

The Council holds and processes a significant amount of information. It is 
critical that the information held is of good-quality, accurate and kept up to 
date to inform decision making. Equally important is the requirement to 
process personal and sensitive information in accordance with the data 
protection legislation. To support this, there is an Information Governance 
Steering Group, which consists of the Head of Information Governance (who 
is also the Council’s Data Protection Officer), the Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) and the Council’s Caldicott Guardian. This Group reviews the 
Council’s approach to information management, information security and 
sharing. This group also oversee the Information Governance action plan and 
related performance as well as approving related policies.  

There is an Information Governance Framework in place under which there 
are several operational policies and procedures including a suite of 
information security policies. These policies are subject to regular review and 
updates are communicated to all staff. 

The Council’s Information Governance Team are responsible for monitoring 
and reviewing compliance to data protection legislation across the Council. 
Part of this work is reviewing the Information Asset Register which specifies 
the information assets held across all Council departments and allows the 
Council to understand the risks associated with different information assets.  

Learning modules on the Council’s I-Learn training system are mandatory for 
all staff to complete to make sure everyone has a good basic understanding of 
their role in relation to Data Protection and information Governance. These 
modules were updated in 2022. 

Following a full audit from the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) in 
2020, a follow up audit assessment was conducted by the ICO in November 
2021.  The follow up assessment acknowledged the significant progress the 
Council was making towards the completion of the recommendations and that 
the ongoing work should serve to improve Torbay Council’s compliance with 
the UK GDPR. 

  

Page 20



11 
 

Internal Audit 

The internal audit service is provided by Devon Audit Partnership (DAP). This 
is a shared service arrangement originally formed by Torbay, Devon County 
and Plymouth City Councils but has been subsequently expanded to include 
several district councils. It is constituted under section 20 of the Local 
Government Act 2000. Devon Audit Partnership undertakes the role of 
auditing the Council’s systems to give assurance to the organisation. 

The Council’s Internal Audit Plan, which is risk based, is agreed annually by 
the Director of Finance, Senior Leadership Team and the Council’s Audit 
Committee. This provides the basis for the review of internal control and 
governance within the Council and includes the following: 

o Annual reviews of the Council’s key financial systems by Internal 
Audit against known and evolving risks.  

o Reviews of internal controls in operation within each service area 
against known and evolving risks based on a detailed risk 
assessment. These reviews consider the strategic and operational 
risks identified in the Corporate Risk Register, as well as materiality, 
sensitivity and previous audit and inspection findings. 

o Work in relation to the investigation of any potential irregularities 
identified either from audit work or through the Council’s whistle-
blowing policy.  

o Advice and support to ensure future safeguards when implementing 
new systems. 

o Value for money work in relation to assessing the efficiency, 
economy and effectiveness of the Council’s operations and 
recommending improvements as necessary. 

Internal Audit is governed by Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. In April 
2020 the Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Special Interest Group (SIG) for Internal Audit, considered and proposed a 
common practice of using four standard internal audit assurance opinions, 
which DAP has adopted. These are: 

o Substantial Assurance 

o Reasonable Assurance 

o Limited Assurance 

o No Assurance  

This replaces the previous High Standard, Good Standard, Improvements 
Required and Fundamental Weaknesses ratings used on each audit 
assignment in previous years. 

Page 21



12 
 

The Council also receives assurance from the NHS Internal Audit Consortium 
(ASW Assurance) over the controls in operation at Torbay and South Devon 
NHS Foundation Trust which covers the provision of adult social care 
services. 

Achievement against the Audit Plan is reported to the Audit Committee on a 
twice yearly basis. This report also includes an opinion and assurance about 
the system of internal control throughout the Council. 

Regular meetings are held between the Chief Finance Officer and a 
representative of the Devon Audit Partnership to discuss specific issues that 
have arisen. 

Review of Effectiveness  

Torbay Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of 
the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal 
control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of managers 
within the Authority who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the governance environment, the Head of the Devon Audit 
Partnership’s annual report and by comments made by the External Auditors 
and other review agencies and inspectorates. This review is demonstrated 
through the Annual Governance Statement. 

As in previous years, Devon Audit Partnership undertook certain assurance 
work on behalf of the Council and to give assurance to the external auditors 
as part their audit opinion. 

The effectiveness of the governance framework has been evaluated over the 
course of the year against the seven core principles within Torbay Council’s 
Code of Corporate Governance. Details of the evaluation is included in the 
sections which follow. Whilst some governance issues have been identified 
(and are detailed below), the Council believes that its arrangements continue 
to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance 
framework. 

Focusing on the purpose of the authority and on outcomes for the local 
community and creating and implementing a vision for the local area 

The Council’s Community and Corporate Plan “One Torbay: Working for all 
Torbay” was adopted in February 2020. The associated Council Business 
Plan 2021-22 acts as a delivery plan and sets out in much more detail what 
we have achieved, together, over the past year and the priorities that we want 
to deliver over the next year, into 2023. Progress against the plan is monitored 
in quarterly Performance and Risk reports which include updates on each 
action and work continues to embed the values and principles within the 
Community and Corporate Plan across the organisation. 

  

Page 22



13 
 

Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with 
clearly defined functions and roles 

The Council’s Constitution has been continually reviewed throughout the year 
by the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Head of Governance 
Support in consultation with the Leader of the Council and Group Leaders 
whereby improvements and changes to the constitution were made and 
agreed.  

A full Member Induction Programme was put in place immediately post the 
Local Elections in May 2019. Over the course of the third year of their term of 
office, the Member Development Programme continued to build members’ 
focus on reinforcing good governance, getting the right skills for the job and 
strengthening leadership and risk awareness.  

Further training in relation to the functions of the Audit Committee particularly 
around financial literacy and the Planning Committee, was included within the 
Member Development Programme for 2021/2022. 

Promoting values for the authority and demonstrating the values of good 
governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour 

During 2021/2022 the Monitoring Officer has held monthly ‘open sessions’ 
with Members whereby any concerns could be raised and member behaviour 
generally discussed. In addition, the Monitoring Officer continues to meet as 
needed with the Independent Person (appointed to assist the Standards 
Committee in the Member Complaint Process) to hear their views and 
opinions on any relevant matters relating to Members’ conduct. The Council 
operated with two Independent Persons, during 2021/2022. One Independent 
Person tendered their resignation and a recruitment process was undertaken 
by the Monitoring Officer. Approval of the successful candidate was sought 
from Council in May 2022. 

The Monitoring Officer had received complaints which were dealt with in 
accordance with the Assessment and Determination of Allegations of 
Breaches of the Member’s Code of Conduct complaints against two Members 
were referred for investigation during 2021/2022 and were determined by a 
Standards Hearing Sub-Committee during the first part of 2022/2023.  

The Council’s Code of Conduct, Whistleblowing and Acceptable Behaviour 
policies are available for all staff on MyView. They are also referred to within 
employees’ terms and conditions of employment and are binding upon 
employees during their employment with the Council. Reminders are sent out 
to staff via newsletters and internal communications. The Council’s induction 
programme also signposts new employees to the above policies.  

Customer Service Standards were developed in 2020 and came into effect 
from April 2021. These standards have been put in place to ensure that our 
employees have clear guidelines in terms of what is expected of them when 
working with our customers.  

Page 23



14 
 

Business ethics, values and culture are an important part of improving an 
organisation’s governance process and we continue to place great importance 
on this. 

Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective 
scrutiny and managing risk 

Meetings of the Cabinet are well-established, enabling reports to be presented 
and considered ahead of decisions being made collectively in the public 
domain. 

At the start of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Cabinet Office issued guidance in 
relation to procurement which the Council adopted. At the same time the 
Scheme of Delegation was amended to ensure that decisions relating to the 
Council’s response to the pandemic could be made as efficiently as 
possible. Whilst this could have opened the Council to an increased level of 
risk, the prevailing corporate governance mechanisms ensured that these 
were mitigated as far as possible. 

The level of delegation to officers in relation to planning decisions was also 
increased at the start of the pandemic and later, as the Planning Committee 
began meeting virtually, no committee site visits could be undertaken in 
person. A virtual approach was adopted as soon as possible with the Planning 
Officer showing details of the site and meeting with the members of the 
Planning Committee virtually via Zoom. Meetings returned to being held in 
person from May 2021 with hybrid arrangements whereby decision-makers 
attended in person and others attending remotely via Zoom. Meetings in 
person resumed from August 2021 as restrictions were relaxed but site visits 
continued to be held virtually whilst Covid-19 numbers remained high in 
Torbay and social distancing measures remained in place for Council 
buildings and operations.  

The Overview and Scrutiny Board has undertaken a range of work from 
reviewing draft Policy Framework documents to matters relating to health and 
wellbeing. Over the course of the municipal year 2021/22 the Board have not 
considered any call-ins. A sub committee of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
was established this year to provide dedicated focus upon Children’s Services 
to assist the Council in its improvement journey. A task and finish group was 
established and made recommendations to the Cabinet on Torbay’s Housing 
Crisis. 

The Audit Committee has received the Internal Audit Plan together with 
updates on the progress against the Plan. The Committee has received the 
Council’s Statement of Accounts and Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
The performance and risk reports are reviewed and scrutinised by the Audit 
Committee on a quarterly basis. A pre-meet is held to discuss any points that 
members would like to debate or challenge as part of the main meeting 
agenda. The committee’s role is to understand the constraints where 
performance has slipped and work with directors to support improvement.  

Page 24



15 
 

The Council’s Information Asset Register is subject to regular review as part 
of the Council’s GDPR project plan, this allows the Council to understand the 
information being processed across all departments, the lawful basis for 
processing and the security measures associated with the information asset. 

Decisions made by the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s Investment and 

Regeneration Portfolio are in accordance with the Investment and 

Regeneration Fund Strategy. This Strategy sets out how the Council aims to 

improve its financial resilience through the purchase of a balance portfolio of 

investments which appropriately spreads the Council’s risk, as well as 

supporting the Economic Strategy by delivering economic growth, tackling 

inequality and creating change in the area that benefits everyone. The 

Strategy also sets the framework to ensure that appropriate due diligence is 

undertaken during the decision making process in relation to the Council’s 

investments. 

Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be effective 

The Senior Leadership Team has kept the operation of its meetings under 
review over the course of the year in order to increase their capacity to focus 
on those issues of strategic importance. 

The Members’ Development Programme continues to be delivered. 
Communication with councillors was supplemented by Councillor 
Conversations which take place to provide an informal opportunity to discuss 
forthcoming issues. Councillors learning and development is also supported 
with external training opportunities available from the Local Government 
Association and peers from other authorities. 

Key messages and information are communicated from the Senior Leadership 
Team directly to all managers at monthly Senior Managers Forums and 
quarterly Managers Forums. This is then fed back in team meetings with an 
emphasis on the cascade of information to front line staff. 

A number of staff volunteers from different areas across the Council have 
been recruited to become Wellbeing Supporters. They are a confidential point 
of contact for employees experiencing emotional distress or a mental health 
issue. This interaction could range from having an initial conversation to 
supporting and signposting the person to get appropriate help. Volunteers 
attended ‘Connect 5’ training to provide them with the right tools and 
knowledge to carry out their roles. 

Induction events are periodically held for all new starters. These events form 
part of the formal induction programme and aim to; welcome new employees 
to the council, give new employees important information, enable a 
networking opportunity and enable new employees to meet the Chief 
Executive and/or member of the Senior Leadership Team and ask questions. 

  

Page 25



16 
 

Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability 

Consultation and service user engagement have continued to take place. This 
work has included consultation on the proposals for budget savings and 
income generation and to seek local people’s views on service change and 
projects across Torbay. 

There continues to be good engagement from partners within the Torbay 
Together Partnership. An independent Chairman continues to lead the 
partnership, now renamed as Torbay Place Leadership Board. The 
partnership launched a Torbay Champions Programme in March 2022 which 
gives an opportunity to anyone who wants to learn more about what the Bay 
has to offer, to attend the champions meetings and then help to promote 
Torbay. The partnership is also in the process of setting up town boards in the 
three towns to ensure that each has direct involvement in the wider Torbay 
Story. 

The third Torbay Community Conference had the theme of Climate Change. 
The Torbay Climate Conversation, which thanks to funding from South West 
Energy Hub was a COP26 South West Region Event, took place in November 
2021 at South Devon College. It was attended by residents, local community 
groups and organisations, Councillors and Officers who have an interest in 
how we can continue our conversation around climate change. Those that 
attended also discussed how we can continue to boost our priority of making 
Torbay Zero Emissions by 2030. 

Torbay Council continues to be committed to developing a more engaged 
relationship with individuals and communities across the Bay. The report from 
the first Community Conference included recommendations for cultural and 
organisational changes which contributed to the current Council Redesign 
programme. 

A Community Engagement and Empowerment Strategy was developed 
following feedback from the first Community Conference and to deliver the 
Council’s determination to engage with communities more effectively. The 
Strategy sets out the plan to address some of the key themes emerging from 
the Conference and clear statements about the Council’s offers, commitments 
and actions, working with the community to build more positive and trusted 
relationships. It also outlined how the Council intended to meet its mission to 
be a Council that works in partnership with its residents, communities and 
partnerships based around six key elements. This strategy was approved at a 
council meeting in February 2021. 

The Annual Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Board has been published 
and considered by the Council at its annual meeting. 

The Statement of Accounts provides a Narrative Report which explains the 
Council’s achievements against the Corporate Plan over the past year 
alongside the Council’s financial Performance. 

Page 26



17 
 

During 2021/22 a series of Facebook Live and Ask us events were held on 
social media. Members of the public could hear from a panel of leading 
Members and senior officers and ask them questions. Each event was 
focussed on a subject such as the budget or COVID-19. 

Securing continuous improvement in service delivery and ensuring that its 
agreed policies, priorities and decisions are implemented on time, in a manner 
consistent with the needs of its user and in the most effective way 

Corporate performance and risk reports are reviewed quarterly by the Senior 
Leadership Team, Informal Cabinet and Audit Committee. This enables any 
areas of concern to be highlighted, followed up and where necessary 
improvement plans put in place.  

Last year the regular review of performance identified the timeliness of 
responses to Freedom of Information enquiries and Subject Access Requests 
as a matter of concern and work continues to improve this as although volume 
performance has improved, percentage stats have yet to see a significant 
change. Additionally, the committee raised its concerns regarding planning 
performance. A selection of new indicators were included in the performance 
report that highlighted the issues. The Chief Executive requested the planning 
advisory service’s support and established an improvement project to 
implement their recommendations, as well as, support the service in other 
areas also needing improvement.  

In November 2021, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission conducted a 
joint inspection of the local area of Torbay to judge the effectiveness of the 
area in implementing the special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND) 
reforms as set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. As a result of the 
findings of this inspection, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector determined that a 
Written Statement of Action was required because of significant areas of 
weakness in the area’s practice. 

The Written Statement of Action has now been prepared and approved by 
Ofsted and work in progressing to implement it. The SEND Strategic Board, 
co-chaired by the Director of Children’s Services (Torbay Council) and the 
Chief Nursing Officer (NHS Devon CCG), meets on a monthly basis to monitor 
progress, hold officers to account and take decisions which will lead to 
improved services. 

An Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services in Torbay took place between 21 
March and 1 April 2022. They subsequently reported that they had judged the 
Council as ‘Good’ in all areas of inspection. The report acknowledges the 
“remarkable transformation” attributed to a clear and ambitious improvement 
plan, based on evidence of the causes of long-standing, inadequate practice, 
together with a strong political and corporate commitment to the improvement 
agenda.  

In May 2022, notification was received that the revised Statutory Direction 
issued by the Government in May 2021 is to be lifted. The lifting of the revised 

Page 27



18 
 

Statutory Direction is based on the landmark improvements shown in the 
latest Ofsted’s inspection report of Torbay Children’s Services.    

We will continue to build on these successful foundations to make further 
improvements across all our services, such as driving up the quality of 
services for children and young people with special educational needs and/or 
disabilities (SEND). 

Work continues to ensure the IT processes that support key financial systems 
are well operated and managed despite resource issues stemming from 
significant ICT project work and the ongoing impact of Covid-19. Significant 
risks in relation to malicious cyber attacks are faced by all Local Authorities. 
Risks are mitigated as far as possible and recommendations made by Internal 
Audit are being actioned. 

Based on work performed during 2021/22, Internal Audit’s experience from 
previous years, and the outcome of the Annual Follow Up exercise as 
separately reported, the Draft Annual Audit Report for 2021/2022 set out that 
the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion is one of “Reasonable Assurance” on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of much of the Authority’s internal control 
framework. The exception was Children’s Services, where their opinion 
remained as ‘Limited Assurance’. The Opinion considers the limited audit 
work in some directorates due to the ongoing impact of the pandemic on 
Council service areas, and the need to adjust the plan to review new risks and 
challenges arising from responding to Covid. 

The Authority’s internal audit plan for 2021/22 included specific assurance, 
risk, governance and value-added reviews which, together with prior years 
audit work, provide a framework and background within which Internal Audit 
can assess the Authority’s control environment. The audit plan has been 
significantly changed with the agreement of the S151 Officer due to 
insufficient capacity in the Council’s departments as a result of the continued 
impact of Covid 19.  

The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the 
governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government (2010). 

  

Page 28



19 
 

Significant governance issues 

In their Draft Annual Report, Internal Audit identified that the Council’s overall 
internal control framework is considered to have operated effectively during 
the year. Where internal audit work has highlighted instances of non or part 
compliance, none are understood to have had a material impact on the 
Authority’s affairs. However, the opinion provided must be considered in light 
of Covid-19 and the ongoing impact of this on the Council. Audit’s opinion is 
based on internal audit work undertaken during 2021-22, as part of a revised 
plan. Covid-19 measures have resulted in a significant level of challenge to 
the Council and put pressure on the expected control environment; the need 
for prompt and urgent action by officers has required changes to some 
procedures and control arrangements. In respect of this report, it has not been 
possible to fully quantify the additional risk that may have arisen from such 
emergency and associated measures or fully determine the overall impact on 
the framework of governance, risk management and control. 

The ongoing financial impact of COVID-19 will have a significant impact on 
the 2022/23 budget. The impact on the Council’s income, expenditure and 
funding is outlined in the Medium Term Resource Plan and the 2022/23 
budget proposals. The financial impact on 2022/23 and future years can only 
be an estimate which officers will continue to update and aim to mitigate 
impacts as far as possible. 

Audit’s November 2019 report found that Tor Bay Harbour Authority was 
compliant with the requirements of the Port Marine Safety Code (PMSC) 
however there were concerns in relation to land-based Health and Safety 
(H&S). These concerns were referenced again in Audit’s follow up report in 
November 2020 and again in their 2021 follow up report. Recommendations 
were made that land-based H&S be formally reviewed by an appropriate body 
and an action plan drawn up. These actions have been undertaken and the 
Council continues to ensure a significant focus on health and safety in the 
harbours as our area of biggest risk. A dedicated Harbour H&S Officer has 
been appointed within the Harbours team. 
 
In the January 2022 report by Audit on Cyber Governance, they 
recommended that there was a need to fully integrate IT and Cyber risks into 
the organisation’s performance and risk framework and for the Council to 
obtain assurance regarding cyber defences within any wholly owned 
companies and their subsidiaries. Work is under way to incorporate Cyber 
security risks as part of the existing Performance and Risk Management 
framework reporting. Where the IT provision of wholly owned companies and 
their subsidiaries is outside of the control of Torbay IT, issues have been 
identified and are being addressed. 

In addition to the above, there were a number of reviews undertaken by 
internal audit during the course of the year which found that improvements 
were required. In most cases management actions plans have been put in 
place and these will be monitored on a regular basis through the Performance 
and Risk Framework. 

Page 29



20 
 

Conclusion 

Overall, during the course of the year we have ensured that we are delivering 
against our agreed action plans in order to maintain our robust corporate 
governance arrangements. Our decision making processes are understood by 
members and officers and the mechanisms which support those processes 
operate effectively. 

We have recognised where there are areas for further improvement as 
outlined within this Statement. We propose, over the coming year, to take the 
steps detailed in the action plan below to address these areas to further 
enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will 
address the issues identified and we will monitor their implementation and 
operation as part of our next annual review. 

 

 

 

 

Anne-Marie Bond     Councillor Steve Darling  
Chief Executive     Leader of the Council 
  

Page 30



21 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

Continue to deliver the Children’s Services Continuous Improvement Plan. Director of Children’s 
Services 

31 March 2023 

Implement the SEND Written Statement of Action. Director of Children’s 
Services 

31 March 2023 

Deliver against the Council’s Business Plan. Senior Leadership Team 31 March 2023 

Incorporate IT Cyber security risks as part of the existing Performance and Risk Management 
framework reporting. 

Divisional Director  
for Corporate  
Services 

31 March 2023 

Tor Bay Harbour Authority to continue to ensure a significant focus on land-based Health and 
Safety.  

Director of Place  31 March 2023 

 

P
age 31



 

 
 
Meeting:  Audit Committee Date:  27 July 2022 
 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
Report Title:  Local Government Association and Local Partnerships : Review of 
Wholly Owned Companies 2021 – Action Plan Monitoring 
 
Is the decision a key decision? No 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?  N/A 
 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Anne-Marie Bond, Chief Executive, (01803) 
207015, anne-marie.bond@torbay.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This report is to update Members on the progress made on implementing the Local 

Government Association and Local Partnerships : Review of Wholly Owned 
Companies 2021 Action Plan, which was approved by Cabinet on 14 December 
2021. 

 
1.2 At Cabinet on 14 December 2021, it was agreed that in order for members to 

maintain ownership and oversight, the implementation of the action plan should be 
monitored and reviewed by the Audit Committee. 

 
1.3 Whilst this is the first time that the Audit Committee has had the opportunity to view 

the progress that has been made, the TDA Action Plan Delivery Group has been 
actively working on the action plan and reviewing progress on a regular basis. 

 
2. Update 
 
2.1 Updates on the specific actions contained in the action plan are set out in Appendix 
1.  2. Reason for Proposal 
 
2.1 To comply with the decision made by Cabinet on 14 December 2021. 
 
3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 
 
3.1 That the Audit Committee notes the progress on the implementation of the Local 

Government Association and Local Partnerships : Review of Wholly Owned 
Companies 2021 Action Plan, as set out in exempt Appendix 1 to the report. 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1:  Local Government Association and Local Partnerships : Review of Wholly 
Owned Companies 2021 Action Plan (Exempt) 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



Document is Restricted

Page 33

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 40

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	5 Annual Governance Statement 2021-22
	Annual Governance Statement 2021-22 Appendix

	6 Local Government Association and Local Partnerships : Review of Wholly Owned Companies 2021 - Action Plan Monitoring
	Wholly Owned Companies LGA and LP Action Plan - Appendix EXEMPT

	8 Management Accounts - SWISCo

